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SUMMARY
Contract of Employment – Wrongful dismissal

Unfair Dismissal – Reasonableness; Contributory fault

It is essential that Employment Tribunals have clearly in mind the distinction between issues of fairness of dismissal and issues as to contribution by a Claimant which might serve to reduce compensation under s123(6) of the Employment Rights Act. A finding that dismissal was to any extent caused or contributed to by conduct of the Claimant, if compensation is to be reduced under s123(6), requires the Employment Tribunal to make findings of fact as to the conduct in question, which must be blameworthy conduct known to those responsible for his dismissal.  Decision of Employment Tribunal reversed when it confused its roles in determining the fairness of dismissal and whether the Claimant had contributed to it.

 The EAT refused to vary the decision of the Employment Tribunal that the Claimant had been unfairly dismissed and dismissed in breach of contract.  Paragraph 17.1 of the School (Staffing) England Regulations 2003 does not require School Governors to notify the Local Education Authority of a decision to dismiss a teacher whose contract provided that notification should only be given after determination of an appeal, until after the appeal has been determined. Notification prior to the determination of the appeal is in breach of contract.

HIS HONOUR JUDGE SEROTA QC

Introduction and factual background
1. This is an appeal from the decision of an Employment Tribunal at Birmingham dated 21 June 2006 (Ms P Hughes, Chairman) which decided that the Claimant had been unfairly dismissed, but that he had contributed to his dismissal and the extent of that contribution was 50%.  The Employment Tribunal also determined that the second Respondent was in breach of contract by dismissing the Claimant after his disciplinary hearing, rather than after his appeal hearing.

2. Elias J (President) referred the appeal to a full hearing on 7 August 2006 and HHJ Ansell referred the Respondents’ cross-appeal for a full hearing on 12 September 2006.

3. We now turn to deal with the factual background to these proceedings, which we take from the decision of the Employment Tribunal.  

4. The Claimant is a teacher with an unblemished record over many years.  He has been involved in special education since 1998.  He has been employed at Corley School since January 2002.   The second Respondent is the Local Education Authority.  The first Respondent is the Claimant’s employer.

5. It is convenient to refer at this point in our judgment to the contract of employment.  Clause 14 defines “gross misconduct” and provides as follows:

“14.
Some types of misconduct may be so serious that they are deemed to go to the ‘root of an employment contract’ and may justify summary dismissal, that is dismissal without notice being given and without any prior warnings being issued. Such misconduct is termed Gross Misconduct and is generally held to include such actions as the following:

Fighting


Breach of major safety rules

Theft


Serious misuse of equipment/vehicles and damage to premises/buildings

Sexual Offences”

6. Clause 15 makes clear that the list was “by no means exhaustive of potential gross misconduct offences and to it could be added other actions, such as serious cases of racial or sexual harassment.” 

7. Clause 25 provides:

“25.
In the event that a Gross Misconduct offence has been alleged, then the employee concerned should be suspended pending an investigation of the case and/or the arrangement of a formal disciplinary hearing. Such suspension will be on full contractual pay…”

8. We need not refer specifically to the provisions of the contract which refer to the establishment of a governors’ sub-committee to act as a disciplinary panel or tribunal.

9. Clause 41 of the contract is of importance: 

“41.
If the decision of the Governors Sub-Committee is that the employee is to be dismissed, then the appeal process must be completed (i.e. the employee appeals and the appeal panel uphold the decision of the sub-committee or the employee does not appeal or fails to do so within the time limits prescribed at Appendix C) before the Local Education Authority is requested to terminate the contract of the employee.”

This is provision for an appeal against the decision of the disciplinary panel to an appeal panel of at least three governors not previously involved in the process; see paragraph 42.  

10. Paragraph 43 is in the following terms:

“43.
If a decision to dismiss is upheld by the Appeals Sub-Committee, or if there has been no appeal by the employee against a decision to dismiss by the expiry of the time limits set to do so, the Local Education Authority should be notified in writing and is required to terminate the employee’s contract within 14 days of receiving such written notification.

In the case of a Gross Misconduct offence, the employee will remain suspended on full pay until the termination letter is issued by the Local Authority, at which point his contract will end summarily (i.e. immediately without any notice being given or paid).”

11. Corley School provides for pupils with moderate learning difficulties, including autism and those who display challenging behaviour.

12. A physical restraint system was in use at the School, known as SCIP (Strategies for Crisis Intervention and Prevention).  The Claimant had not received training in this system, although he had asked for such training on several occasions.  He had asked for, but had not been provided with, a mobile telephone on several occasions.  He wished to have a mobile telephone to enable him to call assistance should circumstances demand, because his classroom was somewhat isolated.

13. The incident giving rise to these proceedings is described by the Employment Tribunal as follows:

“There was some disruptive behaviour in a lesson that Mr Whitehead was teaching and two boys left the classroom.  A third boy attempted leave the classroom and Mr Whitehead attempted to dissuade him from doing so and the boy’s finger was trapped in the door of the classroom causing serious injury to him.  Mr Whitehead was in the vicinity of the door at the time and was not able to explain how the injury was caused.”

The Employment Tribunal return to these facts in rather greater detail later in their decision:

10.11
On 12 September 2005 the claimant was scheduled to teach a Design & Technology class in his classroom, which was a workshop. He had a teaching assistant, Mrs Lyons.

10.12
The practice at the school was that teaching assistants would supervise in the playground during break times. They would take a 10 or 15 minute coffee break during the next lesson, if the teacher in charge agreed to the assistant leaving the lesson. The claimant has criticised this custom and practice as placing the teacher in a situation where they had no classroom support. In our view this criticism was not warranted because the teacher concerned could decide whether or not to release the classroom assistant for a break, and would not do so if they considered that it was necessary for the assistant to remain.

10.13
The claimant was informed by Mrs Lyons that the class was somewhat excitable and after some discussion with her he agreed that she should take a break. When the lesson commenced the claimant noticed that there was a problem with a pupil called JS, who was being picked on by other members of the class. In an attempt to defuse the situation the claimant sent JS to the office on an errand. The claimant’s evidence was that when JS returned the class once again displayed hostile behaviour towards him, and a pupil called CA was threatening and goading him. JS became upset and ran out of the classroom. On exiting the classroom he ran down the corridor and left the building through a door into the playground. This door cannot be opened from the outside, so it is not possible for a pupil to get back into the school via that door unless someone opens it for them.

10.14
The claimant’s evidence was that after JS left the room, the class settled down. JS then reappeared at the back window of the classroom and started to bang on the window. This caused CA to become agitated and to run from the classroom. The claimant’s account was that he believed that CA, who had a history of being physically violent towards others, had left the classroom in order to physically attack JS, and that CA had followed JS outside the building (he later came to believe that CA had not gone outside). At that point the claimant took no action to prevent CA from leaving or to address what, on his own account, he perceived to be a developing situation involving CA and JS. The claimant says that this was because there was so little time between JS and CA leaving the classroom and the next event which took place that he was unable to take any action. The respondents’ position was that prior to JS leaving the classroom and also prior to CA leaving the classroom, the claimant had opportunities to take preventative action such that the situation did not develop the way that it did. We accept that it was more likely than not that action could have been taken earlier by the claimant to prevent the situation from escalating.
10.15
Shortly after CA left the classroom a third pupil, AF, stood up and also ran towards the door. The claimant’s account was that when this took place he decided that it was more likely than not that AF was going outside to assist CA in attacking JS and consequently he decided to physically interpose himself between AF and the doorway to dissuade him from leaving the room. He also told the tribunal that if AF had got past him, he would have allowed AF to leave the room and then taken action to deal with the situation. It was clear from the claimant’s evidence to the disciplinary panel and his evidence to the tribunal that he accepted that the situation was not one of imminent danger and did not warrant the use of any physical force to restrain AF in order to prevent him from leaving the room. Consequently the fact that he had not received SCIP training was not relevant because the situation was not one which the claimant believed warranted the use of physical restraint.

10.16
Events unfolded very quickly. The claimant was not able to recall whether he or AF reached the doorway first, but it appears that AF and the claimant were both next to the door when AF tried to open it. The door closed, trapping AF’s finger and causing the finger to break, which was a serious injury requiring hospital treatment.  The claimant was unable to explain why the injury was caused to AF. The respondent later concluded that the claimant had taken some form of physical action to try to prevent AF from leaving the room, and this had resulted in injury to AF.”

14. We observe at this point that the Employment Tribunal in paragraph 10.14 had accepted that it was more likely than not that action could have been taken earlier by the Claimant to prevent the situation from escalating, but the Employment Tribunal does not say what that action was.

15. We feel bound to share the observation of the Employment Tribunal that a relatively short incident has given rise to volumes of paper.  We note with some dismay how allegations of bias and tampering with evidence have raised the temperature and possibly deflected the attention of the Respondents during the disciplinary proceedings away from the issues that they needed to consider.

16. Corley School has a policy whereby physical restraint of a pupil is only acceptable if there is imminent danger of a pupil harming himself or another.

17. This was not the first occasion when there had been concern about a possible assault by the Claimant against a pupil; on 27 March 2002 an allegation of assault had been made against the Claimant which was investigated by the headmaster, Mr Nason.  On that occasion, the Claimant had been suspended.  Mr Nason investigated the allegations and concluded there was no case for the Claimant to answer.  His suspension was lifted.  Although the Respondents’ disciplinary procedure required that no record be kept of an allegation if determined to be unfounded, Mr Nason wrongly retained that information on file.  Mr Nason advised the Claimant to avoid using any form of physical intervention in relation to the management of pupil behaviour.  However, relations broke down between the Claimant and Mr Nason and the Claimant had informed Mr Nason that he would be leaving the school.

18. The Claimant’s initial explanation, set out in the incident form he completed, was that AF had been in such a rush to open the door that he had trapped his own finger.  This did not satisfy Mr Nason who advised the Claimant to think about the explanation and seek advice from his Trade Union representative.  The following day the Claimant’s representative sent a fax to Mr Nason with the Claimant’s considered account of the incident.  The Claimant said that he and AF had both been heading for the doorway; he could not be sure who had arrived first but he had not touched the door, or AF, and the door had bounced off his foot and closed.  This had caused the injury to AF.  When the Claimant gave evidence before the Employment Tribunal he said that at the time he was not in a position to give an explanation but felt compelled to do so.  The Employment Tribunal found it was reasonable that he was asked for an explanation and it was reasonable that Mr Nason was not satisfied with the explanation.  Nonetheless, the Employment Tribunal made the following finding at paragraph 10.19:

“10.19 
…In the circumstances we concluded that the claimant and AF were both rushing towards the door when the injury occurred, and that the injury should not have occurred if the claimant had simply interposed himself between AF and the doorway.”

19. The Claimant was suspended; there was a police investigation and an investigation by Mr Nason.  The Employment Tribunal was satisfied that Mr Nason had no choice but to suspend the Claimant and to investigate, and that he was correct to delay his investigation until after the conclusion of the police investigation.  The Employment Tribunal also rejected the suggestion that Mr Nason’s approach to the investigation was biased.  

20. There was some initial misunderstanding as to the extent of interviews carried out by the police, which led to a suggestion being made on the part of the Claimant that the Respondent had withheld evidence.  The Employment Tribunal rejected this suggestion.

21. The police had taken statements by way of video interviews with three pupils.  There were concerns expressed by the Claimant about these statements which were taken several weeks after the event from pupils suffering from autism.  Nonetheless, the Employment Tribunal considered it was reasonable for Mr Nason and the disciplinary panel to have regard to these statements.  Transcripts of the interviews were prepared from handwritten notes and regrettably, a few sentences were omitted in the typing.  This led to a suggestion being made that Mr Nason had doctored material supplied to the Claimant.  This allegation was rejected by the Employment Tribunal.

22. During the course of the police investigation a second allegation was made against the Claimant by a Mrs Hewitt.  This was again investigated by Mr Nason and the Employment Tribunal considered it proper for Mr Nason to carry out his investigations as he did.

23. The first investigatory meeting took place on 2 April 2003.  The Claimant gave an account of the incident to the effect that he was slightly closer to the door than AF and that he touched neither the pupil nor the door, nor had he caused it to close on AF’s hand.  He also suggested it was possible that another pupil, CA, might have been outside the classroom door in the corridor and been involved in closing the door on AF’s hand. 

24. The second investigatory meeting took place on 13 May 2003.  The Minutes of the meeting were not signed off by the Claimant until November 2003.  The Employment Tribunal was critical of the delay and rejected the suggestion that it was solely attributable to the Claimant.   The Employment Tribunal considered it was for the Respondent to expedite the process and that it was clearly undesirable for lengthy delays to take place in relation to investigating serious allegations such as those made against the Claimant.

25. The Employment Tribunal noted that during the investigatory interviews Mr Nason had failed to invite the Claimant to identify people who should be interviewed and thus failed to follow the guidance contained in Government Circular 10/95 “Protecting children from abuse; the role of the education service”.  

26. Mr Nason did not re-interview the three boys and the Employment Tribunal accepted there was no need for him to have done so.  Apart from his failure to ask the Claimant to identify persons to be interviewed, the Employment Tribunal considered Mr Nason’s investigation was thorough.  However, it was critical of Mr Nason for including a statement he had made to the police in the bundle for the disciplinary hearing.  The statement was concerned with previous incidents involving the Claimant and pupils including, in particular, a reference to the previous allegation against the Claimant which should have been removed from the file and to which we have already referred.

27. The Employment Tribunal considered that the inclusion of this statement was prejudicial and it was placed before the disciplinary panel in order to influence its decision-making process.  The Employment Tribunal was also highly critical of the fact that the disciplinary hearing was convened for 20 April 2004, some 18 months after the incident giving rise to the proceedings.  The Employment Tribunal concluded that the Respondent “was largely responsible for the delay.”

28. The Employment Tribunal went on to reject a criticism by the Claimant that the second Respondent had advised both the Governors and the head teacher.  It also accepted that when the disciplinary hearing had to be reconvened because one Governor (who had fallen asleep) was disqualified, that it was reasonable for the other Governor to sit on the reconstituted panel.

29. The Employment Tribunal agreed with Mr Nason’s assessment that the Claimant did not need to use physical restraint.  It noted that the argument put forward by his representative, that he was entitled to use physical force and had done so, was contrary to the case he had put forward at the time.  He had conceded there was no need to use force.

30. Mr Nason told the disciplinary hearing he was satisfied the Claimant did not deliberately trap the boy’s fingers in the door, as the boy, AF, alleged.  Mr Nason’s evidence, which was accepted by the Employment Tribunal, was that Mr Nason’s principal concern was that the Claimant should not have placed himself in the situation he did and was reckless to have done so.  The Employment Tribunal concluded that it was open to Mr Nason to form that conclusion on the basis of the evidence which was available to him, and that was the case he put before the panel.

31. The Employment Tribunal considered the conduct of Mr Nason during the disciplinary hearing.  He made interjections, which suggested that he appeared to think that he, rather than the Chairman, was in control of the hearing.  The Employment Tribunal concluded as follows:

“10.45
…We thought it likely that Mr Nason’s opinion carried a great deal of weight with the governors because of his position as head teacher and because he comes across as a person with a strong personality.  We have not doubt that the governors had a great deal of respect for him.  Mr Nason clearly took the view that it was unsafe for [the] Claimant to continue teaching at Corley school and that would have been apparent to the panel, and was likely to have influenced their decision.”

32. The Employment Tribunal was satisfied that Mr Nason had carried out a thorough investigation, but concluded that he should have interviewed the boy CA.  The disciplinary hearing continued for most of the day and then had to be reconvened.  However, it did not meet again until 14 July 2004.  The Employment Tribunal was critical of this delay, for which the Respondent had failed to give a cogent explanation.  

33. On 12 July 2004 the Claimant’s representative submitted a grievance relating to the manner in which the disciplinary hearing was conducted and the involvement of the second Respondent.  The Claimant had asked for there to be a joint site visit so that he could make points to the panel about the location and the manner in which the door-closing mechanism worked.  The panel members visited the site separately.  Mr Whitehead wished to give evidence to the Tribunal about the door-closing mechanism, but the Employment Tribunal explained “that this was not relevant to our task.”  The Employment Tribunal was, however, critical of the panel visiting the site (and subsequently the appeal panel also) in the absence of the Claimant.

34. In paragraph 10.53 of the decision the Employment Tribunal set out the gist of the Claimant’s evidence to the panel.  He explained to the panel that he had not laid hands on AF; he had no right to do so.  He explained that the door had closed onto AF’s hand and he that he tried to open it.  He felt resistance but he did not know from where it came.  He concluded that the door must have bounced off someone’s foot.  He then went on to say that he now believed the explanation was that CA was outside the door to the classroom and not outside the school door.  The panel considered that suggestion and rejected it.  The Employment Tribunal was satisfied it was not unreasonable for the panel to reach that conclusion on the basis of the available information although it noted that CA had not been interviewed, despite the fact the Claimant had stated he was a material witness.   It was unrealistic to suggest that the Claimant should have interviewed him, and the correct approach was for the interviewing officer to interview the people the Claimant believed had relevant evidence.

35. The Employment Tribunal was critical of the panel for failing to understand its powers to dismiss for misconduct less than gross misconduct.

36. The finding was based upon the evidence of Mr Barker.  Mr Barker was the Chairman of the governors and Chairman of the disciplinary panel:

“10.54
…His evidence was that the panel took the view that it was not safe for the claimant to continue to work in the school and that he was a risk to pupils, consequently they decided they must find that the claimant was guilty of gross misconduct.  They did so in the knowledge that this could end his career.  We thought that the position was that the governing body had material before it from which it could reasonably conclude the first allegation had been proven, but it was far from clear to us that it must follow that the claimant’s action amounted to gross misconduct.  We concluded that the disciplinary panel decided what outcome they wanted to achieve, and worked backward from that point, which is not a permissible option available to an employer acting reasonably.”

37. The Employment Tribunal accepted that if the panel concluded the Claimant’s response on the day in question had been wholly inappropriate for an experienced teacher, this could go to the root of the employment contract:

“10.55
…However we did not accept that the governing body approached their task in the correct way.  It was apparent that they took the decision that the claimant was guilty of gross misconduct because they believed that this was the only way to be sure that he could no longer continue to teach in the school.  Presumably this decision reflected the advice the panel was given by the LEA.”

38. Mr Barker wrote to the Claimant on 21 July 2004 to inform him of the decision of the panel and that it had taken into account “any issues of mitigation”.  The Employment Tribunal held that this was not correct, because the Claimant had not been invited to put forward any mitigation and had not done so.  We note that the disciplinary panel rejected the other allegation against the Claimant made by Mrs Hewitt.  Mr Barker wrote to the second Respondent the same day to confirm the outcome of the disciplinary panel hearing and to recommend that the second Respondent should dismiss the Claimant.  He was dismissed by letter of 23 July 2004 and the second Respondent ceased to pay him from that date.

39. The Claimant’s appeal was arranged for 21 October 2004, more than three months after the final disciplinary hearing.  The Employment Tribunal concluded that the delay was caused by the Respondents and there was no good explanation for it.  The delay was compounded by the failure of the Respondents to prepare proper bundles in a form acceptable to the Claimant.  The appeal hearing was re-arranged for 8 December 2004.  The Claimant raised a grievance relating to the inclusion in the bundles before the appeal panel of various unsubstantiated allegations against the Claimant.  The Employment Tribunal was critical of the decision that the appeal panel should hear both the appeal and the grievance at the same time.  It expressed concern that the second Respondent, the LEA, was becoming too involved and that there was a blurring of the role of governors and Local Education Authority.  

40. The Employment Tribunal was also critical of the fact that when a parent governor withdrew from the appeal panel a teacher governor was appointed in this place.  Although the offending documents were removed from the appeal panel’s bundle, as the Employment Tribunal observed, the panel had been in possession of those papers for some time and were likely to have read them in preparation for the appeal.  The appeal was not conducted by way of rehearing, over the Claimant’s objections, although the Claimant was permitted to submit further evidence.  

41. The Employment Tribunal also drew attention to a further unsatisfactory aspect of the appeal.  The Claimant and his representative, Mr Griffith, found it difficult to follow Mr Nason’s presentation of the case and they noted that the appeal panel did not have the same difficulties.  They later learned that this was because Mr Nason had given the panel copies of his presentation notes, but had not supplied them to the Claimant or his representative.  The Employment Tribunal found “this made it difficult for them to fully participate in the process.”

42. The appeal panel dismissed the appeal.  The Employment Tribunal accepted that the panel took all of the Claimant’s points into consideration.

The Decision of the Employment Tribunal

43. It is important to have regard to the manner in which the Employment Tribunal approached its fact-finding duties.  The Employment Tribunal expressed the view that the reason the case had generated so much evidence was in part because the Claimant and his representative did not appear to appreciate the role of the Tribunal in relation to an unfair dismissal claim, despite direction from the Chairman at the start of the hearing, and throughout the course of the hearing, as to its remit.  It continued as follows:

“1.
…The tribunal was clear that it was not for us to re-try the case and to make findings as to how the injury to the boy was actually caused. Our remit, which we made plain on a number of occasions, was to look at the fairness of the process followed by the respondents. It was for the respondents to establish they did believe the misconduct alleged had taken place; that they had reasonable grounds to sustain that belief; and that at the point they formed that belief, as much investigation as was reasonable in all the circumstances had been carried out. The case law also makes it clear that the tribunal should not form its own view as to whether dismissal should have taken place, but should ask whether dismissal was within a band of responses available to an employer acting reasonably. The range of reasonable responses test applies as much to the investigation as it does to the decision to dismiss. In that context, it was part of our task to decide whether the respondent gave thought to matters raised by the claimant during the disciplinary process, and took those matters into account when reaching its decision to dismiss him.

2.
It was also our function to consider whether the claimant had in any way contributed towards the situation that be found himself in and to that extent it was our role to ask whether he had engaged in conduct which could be characterised as culpable or blameworthy. In that context, it did not appear to us that it was necessary for us to make findings as to how the injury to the boy was caused, nor would it be possible to do so. The claimant himself was not in a position to explain what had happened, and the boy’s account, which was that the claimant deliberately caused the injury, had been rejected by the respondents. However, it was part of our remit to look at what action Mr Whitehead did take on the day in question and to ask ourselves whether such action caused or contributed in any way to his dismissal.”

44. This approach of the Employment Tribunal can also be seen in paragraph 10.34 in which the Tribunal find: 

“10.34 …It is not the tribunal’s role to evaluate that theory.  It is simply our role to review what steps the respondent took to evaluate that theory when it was put forward by the claimant.”

45. We would also refer to paragraph 10.51, when the Employment Tribunal declared that it considered that evidence relating to the door-closing mechanism “was not relevant to our task”.

46. The Employment Tribunal went on to direct itself correctly by reference to such cases as British Home Stores v Burchell [1978] IRLR 379 and Sainsbury’s Supermarkets v Hitt [2003] IRLR to the effect that the question for an Employment Tribunal was whether an employer had established a belief in the alleged misconduct and had reasonable grounds to sustain that belief after a proper investigation.  The Tribunal’s task was not to form its own view as to whether dismissal should have taken place, but rather whether the dismissal was within a reasonable band of responses of the employer.  The test of the reasonable band of responses applied just as much to the investigation as to the decision to dismiss.  This is uncontroversial and we need say no more about it.

47. The Employment Tribunal also directed itself by reference to various provisions of the School Staffing (England) Regulations 2003 made under the Education Act 2002 to which we shall refer later.

48. We now turn to the conclusions of the Employment Tribunal.  It was concluded that although the reason for the dismissal for the Claimant was his conduct, the dismissal was unfair and outwith the band of reasonable responses.  The Employment Tribunal was highly critical in particular of the manner in which the disciplinary proceedings, both before the disciplinary panel and the appeal panel were conducted.  It criticised the extensive delay and Mr Nason’s contravention of the disciplinary process by retaining information in relation to the unproven allegation, and the fact that he put a prejudicial statement before the governors.  The Employment Tribunal also criticised the wrongful use of documents at the appeal stage relating to the earlier and unproven allegations.  It was critical of Mr Nason’s interventions during the disciplinary and appeal hearings and suggested that he considered he was running those hearings and was likely to have influenced the panels.  There were indications that the investigation was not even-handed; the Claimant was not asked to identify persons who might be interviewed.  Mr Nason did not interview people the Claimant thought might give relevant evidence, and the Claimant was unable to do so as he had been suspended.  Further, both the disciplinary panel and the appeal panel declined to have a joint site visit.  The Employment Tribunal drew attention to issues which could cause the Claimant to believe he was not receiving a fair hearing, such as the fact that the first disciplinary hearing had to be abandoned when a governor fell asleep, disputes over documents to go before the panels, the refusal of joint site visits, the refusal to interview CA and to provide copies of contemporaneous notes together with the role of the second Respondent which at times appeared to go beyond merely providing advice.

49. The Employment Tribunal was concerned by the approach of the disciplinary panel and concluded it was influenced by Mr Nason’s strong views and had adopted the wrong approach to deciding whether the Claimant was guilty of misconduct or gross misconduct by working backwards from the outcome it wanted to achieve.  The approach to mitigation was flawed; there was concern about the inclusion of a teacher governor on the appeal panel, and confusion as to the process to be followed.  Concern was expressed that the Claimant was required to conduct a grievance hearing before the panel due to hear the appeal.  The Employment Tribunal concluded that this was likely to have caused the panel to have formed adverse opinions about the Claimant and his representative.  Those grievances spilt over to the appeal hearing proper.  

50. Finally, Mr Whitehead and his representative, Mr Griffith, found it difficult to participate in the appeal hearing because Mr Nason had not provided them with his presentation notes.  

51. The Employment Tribunal, taking all of the matters we have mentioned into account, concluded that the Claimant was unfairly dismissed.  It then went on to consider the issue of contribution.  The Employment Tribunal found that the Claimant had been informed by Mr Nason he should not use physical intervention with pupils and was well aware he should avoid placing himself in situations where such allegations could arise.  He had accepted that the situation with AF did not warrant physical intervention; the Employment Tribunal did not consider that this case was about the use of physical force.  The suggestion by Mr Griffith (the Claimant’s lay representative) that it was, was “incorrect and unsupported by the evidence”.  The Employment Tribunal went on to find there was evidence that the Claimant’s actions on the day in question had been “culpable and blameworthy”:

“4.3
…The claimant was a very experienced teacher [10.1], yet on the day in question he allowed a situation to develop which should not have done, failed to take action to prevent the situation from escalating [10.14] and was positioned next to the door when AF was injured when there was no reason for him to be there [10.15, 10.16, 10.19 and 10.44].  This came about because of his reaction to the fact that a third boy was leaving the room [10.19].  On his own evidence to the tribunal he should have simply allowed AF to leave.  We have concluded that the claimant’s culpable and blameworthy conduct was clearly causative of his dismissal and that it is just and equitable to reduce both the basic award and the compensatory award by fifty percent to reflect the extent of the claimant’s contribution.  In evaluating that contribution we have taken into account the fact that the claimant had not been provided with a telephone in his classroom [10.2] and we would have put the percentage contribution as much higher if he had been and had failed to use it.  We did not take into account the fact that the claimant has not received training in the school’s preferred physical restraint technique [10.2 and 10.5] as the claimant himself had told us the situation was not one which warranted use of physical restraint [10.15].”

52. Finally, the Employment Tribunal turned to consider the question of whether there had been a breach of the Claimant’s contract of employment.  We will refer to the relevant statutory provisions later in this judgment.  The Employment Tribunal concluded that the wording of Regulation 17(2) of the School Staffing (England) Regulations 2003 imposed a mandatory requirement on the second Respondent to terminate the Claimant’s contract within 14 days of notification being received.  However, as Regulation 17(1) was silent as to when determination occurred; it concluded that the timing of the notification should be determined by the terms of the contract of employment.  As the Claimant’s contract provided that notification should occur after the appeal hearing, the Respondent was in breach of contract when it sent notification after the disciplinary hearing.  

Discussion of the relevant law
53. It is important to bear in mind the circumstances in which an Employment Tribunal can reduce compensation in a case where it has found the dismissal to be unfair. For present purposes it is necessary to have regard to ss122(2) and 123(6) of the Employment Rights Act 1996.  These provisions are as follows:

 “122
Basic award: reductions.

(2) 
Where the tribunal considers that any conduct of the complainant before the dismissal (or, where the dismissal was with notice, before the notice was given) was such that it would be just and equitable to reduce or further reduce the amount of the basic award to any extent, the tribunal shall reduce or further reduce that amount accordingly.

123
Compensatory award

(6) 
Where the tribunal finds that the dismissal was to any extent caused or contributed to by any action of the complainant, it shall reduce the amount of the compensatory award by such proportion as it considers just and equitable having regard to that finding.”

54. In the present case, the Employment Tribunal reduced the Claimant’s compensation under s123(6) on the grounds of his contribution towards the dismissal.  As HHJ Peter Clark said in Optikinetics v Whooley (EAT/1257/97):

“For the purposes of s.123(6) the employee’s conduct must be known to the employer at the time of the dismissal… and have been a cause of the dismissal.”

55. In Nelson v BBC (No.2) [1980] ICR 110 the Court of Appeal made clear (by reference to the predecessor of s123(6), paragraph 19(3) of Schedule 1 to Trade Union and Labour Relations Act 1974) that the actions of the employee had to be blameworthy if they were to be treated as causing or contributing to the dismissal.  Brandon L J said at paragraph 121:

“121. 
I agree with the conclusion there reached that, on a proper interpretation of paragraph 19 (3), an award of compensation to a successful complainant can only be reduced on the ground that he contributed to his dismissal by his own conduct if the conduct on his part relied on for this purpose was culpable or blameworthy… 

It is necessary, however, to consider what is included in the concept of culpability or blameworthiness in this connection. The concept does not, in my view, necessarily involve any conduct of the complainant amounting to a breach of contract or a tort. It includes, no doubt, conduct of that kind. But it also includes conduct which, while not amounting to a breach of contract or a tort, is nevertheless perverse or foolish, or, if I may use the colloquialism, bloody-minded. It may also include action which, though not meriting any of those more pejorative epithets, is nevertheless unreasonable in all the circumstances. I should not, however, go as far as to say that all unreasonable conduct is necessarily culpable or blameworthy; it must depend on the degree of unreasonableness involved.

It follows from what I have said that it was necessary for the industrial tribunal in this case, in order to justify the reduction of Mr. Nelson's compensation which they made, to make three findings as follows. First, a finding that there was conduct of Mr. Nelson in connection with his unfair dismissal which was culpable or blameworthy in the sense which I have explained. Secondly, that the unfair dismissal was caused or contributed to to some extent by that conduct. Thirdly, that it was just and equitable, having regard to the first and second findings, to reduce the assessment of Mr. Nelson's loss by 60 per cent.”

56. The principle that only conduct known to the employer at the time of dismissal can be relied upon is analogous with the principle in Devis v Atkins [1997] AC 931 that a dismissal can only be justified on facts known to the employer at the time of dismissal.  The position under 122(2) of the Act is different.  Conduct not known at the time of dismissal but subsequently discovered by the employer can be taken into account by an Employment Tribunal in reducing compensation under s122(2) of the Act.

57. It is apparent, therefore, that an Employment Tribunal must direct itself carefully and make clear to the parties how it proposes to deal with the separate questions of fairness of dismissal and contributory fault reduction under s122(2) of the Act.  This was made clear, for example, by Waite J in Iggesund Convertors v Lewis [1984] IRLR 431.   We are content simply to refer to the head note which, in our opinion, accurately reflects the judgment:

“Whenever an Industrial Tribunal decides to allocate the issues of fairness on the one hand and contributory fault on the other to separate hearings, some direction as to how the evidence on the two issues is to be dealt with is essential. Such direction may take one of two alternative forms.

The most common form of evidential direction consists of a direction made at the outset of the hearing that although any question of contributory fault, should it arise, is to be dealt with at a separate and subsequent hearing, the evidence on the issue of fairness and the evidence on contributory fault are nevertheless to be taken together. This method places the evidence on the same footing as if there had been a composite hearing, avoids the double attendance of witnesses, alerts the employer at an early stage to the need to make out an independent case on contributory fault irrespective of the evidence adduced on fairness, reduces the risk of the employee being taken by surprise by last minute allegations and at the same time preserves the distinction between the categories of evidence relating to the issue of fairness on the one hand and to contributory fault on the other.

Conversely, at the outset of the first hearing, or even earlier, the Industrial Tribunal Chairman may direct that the evidence is to be treated as divided into separate categories and dealt with piecemeal at the two hearings. This method is well suited to the Devis v Atkins [1977] IRLR 314 kind of case where the misconduct relied upon by the employers for the purposes of contributory fault represents or includes conduct unknown to them at the time of the dismissal and the evidence thus lends itself readily to division into water-tight compartments for separate hearings.

In cases of alleged misconduct disputed by the employee it will normally be desirable, and frequently essential, for the Industrial Tribunal to make specific findings as to what allegations were put by the employers at any accusatory interview preceding the dismissal, what opportunity the employee was given of learning the nature of the evidence relied on, what opportunity he was allowed of replying to it, and what his reply was.”

At paragraph 27, Waite J made clear:

“…the necessity to maintain clearly in the minds both of the Tribunal and of the parties at every stage the distinction emphasised by the House of Lords in Devis v Atkins [1977] IRLR 314 between the considerations relevant to an investigation of fairness on the one hand and those relevant to an investigation of contributory fault on the other.”
58. We now turn to consider the relevant statutory provisions relevant to the claim for breach of contract that applied at the time the Claimant’s contract was entered into.   The relevant provisions are to be found in Schedule 16 to the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  Paragraph 25(1) provides that where the governing body of a school determines that a person employed by the local education authority should cease to work there, it should notify the authority in writing of its determination and its reasons for it. The local education authority is then required by paragraph 25(2) to determine the employee’s contract. 
59. Paragraph 27(1) requires the governing body of the school to afford any person against whom they propose to make a determination cease to work at the school the opportunity of making representations. By paragraph 27(2) they must make arrangements for giving such a person an opportunity of appealing against that determination:

“…before they notify the local education authority of the determination.”
These provisions were repealed by the Education Act 2002 s215(2) and Schedule 22 Part 3.
60. The current statutory provision relating to dismissal of teachers in the position of the Respondent are to be found in the School Staffing (England) Regulations 2003 (SI 2003 No. 1963).  We will first refer to Regulation 17:

“17.(1)

Subject to regulation 18, where the governing body determines that any person employed or engaged by the authority to work at the school should cease to work there [13], it must notify the authority in writing of its determination and the reasons for it.

(2)
If the person concerned is employed or engaged to work solely at the school (and does not resign), the authority must, before the end of the period of fourteen days beginning with the date on which the notification under paragraph (1) is given, either—

(a)
give him such notice terminating his contract with the authority as is required under that contract, or

(b)
terminate that contract without notice if the circumstances are such that it is entitled to do so by reason of his conduct.

(3)
If the person concerned is not employed or engaged by the authority to work solely at the school, the authority must require him to cease to work at the school.”

61. The Schedule to the regulations is also important.  It contains transitional dismissal and disciplinary procedures which are accepted to apply in the present case.  Paragraph 2(3) provides as follows:

“2(3) 
In the case of schools to which Part 2 of these Regulations applies and members of staff to whom regulation 26 applies, the governing body must make arrangements for giving any person, in respect of whom it has made a determination that they should cease to work at the school, an opportunity to appeal at a hearing before at least three governors and notify the authority of the outcome of the hearing within seven days.”

62. With that background in mind, we now turn to the grounds of appeal and cross-appeal and arguments of the parties.  At first blush, it appears as though the notice of appeal raises an appeal on questions of fact and as we said during argument, in the vernacular, the EAT does not do appeals on fact, it does appeals on law.  However, closer examination shows that this initial view may be over-simplistic.  It is helpful to set out a number of submissions of law which in the main are not controversial made by Mr Patrick Green who appeared on behalf of the Claimants:

(a)
contributory fault is a distinct and separate issue in cases of unfair dismissal.  It must be separately and properly considered; 

(b)
for the purposes of unfair dismissal, an employer can only rely upon matters it knew at the time of dismissal (see Devis v Atkins (supra)) after acquired knowledge is relevant to issues of compensation only, not to  the fairness of the dismissal

63. There is a distinction between reductions that may be made to a basic award under s122(2) of the Employment Rights Act 1996 and 123(6).  Whereas after acquired knowledge is relevant to a potential deduction under 122(2), deduction can only be made under s123(6) in reference to conduct of the employee known to the Respondent at the time of dismissal.  We are told by Mr Green that at the hearing for the Employment Tribunal the Respondent only sought to establish a deduction under s123(6); it did not seek reduction in contribution either under s122(2) of the Act nor did it seek a Polkey deduction.  

(c) The Employment Tribunal should make the procedure it proposes to adopt clear to the parties at the outset.
(d) Mr Green submitted that the error of the Employment Tribunal in this case was to vacillate between an approach that was appropriate to a reduction in contribution under s122(2) and the approach required to determine the unfairness of the dismissal and contribution under s123(6).  There was a need for a clear self-direction as well as direction to the parties and a need for a firm demarcation between considerations relevant to fairness on the one hand and contribution on the other.  

64. Mr Green drew attention to the direction in paragraph 1 relating to fairness of dismissal, which was in effect repeated in paragraph 2 which dealt with contribution.  These directions, read together, he submitted, were inadequate and potentially confusing both to the Employment Tribunal and to the parties.  This was all the more so as findings of fact in relation to causation were highly relevant to contribution because they go to the principle of contribution as well as the relevant percentage of contributory fault.  Accordingly, Mr Green submitted, the requirements of justice were not met.

(e) Before making a finding of contributory fault, the Employment Tribunal should allow a Claimant the opportunity to give evidence on the issue;

(f) the phrase “caused or contributed to by” in s122(6) imposes a requirement of causation on which the Employment Tribunal must make proper findings. 

65.  It was submitted that the approach of the Employment Tribunal was flawed by confusion between the approach to fairness of dismissal and contribution.  Mr Green drew our attention to the directions at paragraphs 1 and 2 as well as to paragraph 10.34 in which the Employment Tribunal held it was not its role to evaluate the Claimant’s theory but:

“It is simply our role to review what steps the respondent took to evaluate that theory when it was put forward by the claimant.”
(We would note in passing that a similar point can be made in relation to paragraph 10.51 when the Employment Tribunal, during the course of the proceedings, told the parties that an explanation about the door-closing mechanism was not relevant to its task).  Mr Green pressed upon us that the Employment Tribunal had stated it would not examine the facts as to how the accident occurred, yet that is exactly what the Employment Tribunal went on to do, having discouraged the parties from leading evidence in this regard. He drew our attention in particular to paragraph 10.19 of the decision in which the Employment Tribunal:

“concluded that the claimant and AF were both rushing towards the door when the injury occurred, and that the injury should not have occurred if the claimant had simply interposed himself between AF and the doorway.”
In the circumstances, it was submitted, the Employment Tribunal had made a decision on a basis different from that which it directed itself at the outset of its decision, and contrary to the way in which it explained its role to the parties, and that was unfair.

66. Mr Green went on to submit that the Employment Tribunal must make explicit findings as to the behaviour, action or conduct it takes into account in assessing contribution.  That conduct in relation to s123(6) of the Act requires the dismissal to be caused by blameworthy conduct known to the Respondent at the time of dismissal.  We note that this principle is not controversial.  Mr Green submitted that the Respondent needed to consider two issues.  First, what actually had happened, and secondly, to characterise what had happened; was it to be characterised as gross misconduct or not?  He noted that the Claimant had not been permitted to present any mitigation.  The Employment Tribunal should have addressed itself specifically to the issue of what the Respondent’s dismissing officers knew.  There were serious issues as to what information in fact had been placed before the disciplinary panel.

67. Mr Green then went on to submit that the conduct of the Claimant should have been judged in the light of the context in which he found himself.  In a case where the Employment Tribunal had found the Respondent’s evidential base and knowledge to have been unsatisfactory and significantly incomplete, a fortiori was vitiated by prejudice, unfairness and unreliability, it would be wrong in principle to make a finding as to contributory fault.  This submission is more controversial.  The Claimant submitted that the Respondent could not properly be said to have known of his misconduct.  It could not be said there was sufficient evidence that the dismissal was caused by blameworthy conduct.

68. A reduction for contributory fault should be made if the conduct was not blameworthy and it must be more than minimal; this principle is not controversial.  The Employment Tribunal is required to make careful findings as to what the Respondent knew at the time of dismissal and distinguish between the findings it makes in relation to the fairness of dismissal and contributory fault.  The reduction on that basis would be just and equitable; a decision to reduce compensation under s123(6) must be made based on findings as to what in fact occurred; this was an exercise the Employment Tribunal failed to carry out, but on which it came to an apparent conclusion.  

69. Mr Green went on to submit that the findings of the Employment Tribunal were inadequate; he relied upon the well-known principle in English v Emery Reimbold and Strick [2003] IRLR 710.  He submitted that Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights, together with Article 1 of the first protocol, were engaged.  This was particularly so because the findings of blameworthiness might have a serious effect on the Claimant’s career.

70. Mr Green characterised the proceedings before the disciplinary panel and the appeal panel as unfair and indeed fairly spectacularly unfair and in those circumstances he submitted it was wrong for the Employment Tribunal to have placed any reliance on its findings of fact.  The matter was compounded by the Employment Tribunal at paragraph 14 identifying what was known to Mr Nason as opposed to what was known by the persons who were responsible for the dismissal.

71. Mr Green then went on to attack the findings of fact made by the Employment Tribunal, which he considered were flawed and inadequate in a number of respects.  He complained, inter alia, of the following:

(a) the Employment Tribunal should have made findings, and failed to do so, as to what he should have done differently; for example, as to how he might have prevented other pupils leaving the room.

Although on the surface the failure of the Employment Tribunal to make findings as to what the Claimant should properly have done appears to be an issue of fact, underlying that is an inadequate explanation of what it was the Claimant is said to have done that was characterised as blameworthy.  The Claimant had said (see decision paragraph 10.14)  that he took no action to prevent CA or to address what he perceived as a developing situation between CA and JS because there was so little time between JS and CA leaving the classroom and the next event which took place so that he was unable to take any action.  The Employment Tribunal had accepted it was more likely than not that action could have been taken earlier by the Claimant to prevent the situation from escalating; however, the Employment Tribunal has not identified what that action might have been.  What, for example, could the Claimant have done to prevent other pupils leaving?

(b) the Employment Tribunal had failed to address the distinction between the Claimant’s decision to place himself between AF and the door and the decision not to use physical restraint.  The Employment Tribunal appeared to have treated intervention and the use of force as synonymous and this, Mr Green submitted, led the Employment Tribunal into an error in so far as causation was concerned.  This was crucial to the issue of blameworthiness; 

(c) the Employment Tribunal ignored the Department of Education Circular 10/98 on physical restraint; this was an issue relative both to blameworthiness and culpability as well as causation;

(d) the Employment Tribunal failed to have regard to what, it was submitted, were the Respondent’s contradictory written policies on physical intervention;

(e) the policies were not shown to the Claimant;

(f) the advice of the head teacher was said to have hamstrung the Claimant and conflicted with proper guidance based on allegations that had never been proven 

(g) the Respondents had failed to provide the Claimant with any training in physical restraint;

(h) the Employment Tribunal, it was submitted, had failed to have regard to the speed at which the situation developed and the need for the Claimant to act quickly; it failed to have sufficient regard to the fact that the Claimant had attempted to defuse the situation by sending the pupil JS on an errand;

(i) it was submitted that the conclusion of the Employment Tribunal – that the Claimant was culpable and blameworthy and was clearly causative of his dismissal – was opaque and inadequate, thus engaging Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights.  The reasoning also was insufficient and did not adequately permit the Claimant to understand the basis of the finding against him.

72. In relation to disposal, Mr Green went so far as to submit that, on the findings of the Employment Tribunal, the Respondent’s “knowledge” of the Claimant’s  misconduct was so vitiated by unfairness and flaws in the investigation and hearings that no reasonable Employment Tribunal could have found the Claimant’s conduct caused his dismissal.  The Employment Tribunal found that the Respondent worked back from the result it wanted to achieve and was driven to that course by Mr Nason.  The presentation was skewed and prejudicial.  The fact that Mr Nason wrongfully kept the file on the allegation that had been made, and relied upon that allegation, showed prior animus.  The finding that the investigation was inadequate, incomplete, and unfair undermined any proper finding of contributory fault.  The Claimant’s job was inherently difficult; the position taken on restraint by the head was contradictory; the school’s policies were unclear and the Claimant had not been provided with a telephone to enable him to obtain assistance.  There was no support teacher so the Claimant had to deal with the matter on his own.  In the circumstances no reasonable Tribunal could have found that the Claimant had contributed to his own dismissal.  The appeal should be allowed and not remitted to the Employment Tribunal.  It was submitted that we should substitute a finding that there had been no contributory fault.

Respondent’s submissions on appeal
73. Ms Findlay, who appeared on behalf of the Respondents, had no basic quarrel with the Claimant’s submissions as to the law.  She submitted that the Employment Tribunal got it right on the facts and that there was evidence that justified the finding of recklessness on the part of the Claimant.  The Employment Tribunal had correctly directed itself in relation to contributory conduct in accordance with the decision in Nelson v BBC (No. 2) (supra).  A distinction needed to be drawn between considering whether, and to what extent, the Claimant’s blameworthy conduct contributed to his dismissal and deciding exactly how the injuries to the pupil were caused.  The Employment Tribunal was correct to draw a line between deciding on the one hand how the injury occurred, and on the other what the Claimant did on that day and in the immediate aftermath and whether that conduct was blameworthy and contributed to his dismissal within the meaning of s123(6).  She relied upon the decision in Maris v Rotherham Corporation [1974] 2 All ER 776, a decision of the National Industrial Relations Court, for  the proposition that issues of contribution were not restricted to the conduct of the employers in dismissing the employee unfairly, but brought into consideration all the circumstances surrounding the dismissal.  She drew attention to the findings of the Employment Tribunal that the injury would not have occurred if the Claimant had simply interposed himself between AF and the doorway.

74. Further, the disciplinary panel had not found that the Claimant deliberately caused AF’s hand to become trapped but he was reckless and his behaviour was inappropriate.  He had ignored instructions not to become physically involved and ignored policies designed to prevent an incident occurring and had allowed the situation to escalate out of control.  She sought to submit that the Employment Tribunal was entitled to find that the Claimant had the opportunity to prevent the incident from escalating and could have sent another pupil to get assistance.  This was a case where the Employment Tribunal had preferred one piece of evidence over another, so there was no need to set out its findings in detail as was made clear in English v Emery Reinbold (supra).  

75. She drew attention to a number of other factors which, she submitted, supported the Respondents’ case: 

(a) 
this was not a case of imminent danger and there was no need to use physical force; 

(b) 
the finding at paragraph 43 was based on the Claimant’s own evidence that he should have allowed AF to leave; 

(c) 
the Employment Tribunal did what was required of it and the information upon which it relied was clearly before the disciplinary panel; 

(d) 
the threshold for determining what was known to the disciplinary panel was not a high threshold; it was wrong to place hurdles that might prevent the Employment Tribunal  concluding that the decision was a proper one.

76. Ms Findlay addressed us on the fact that the Employment Tribunal had apparently sought to shut out evidence as to how the injury occurred.  She submitted the Claimant was entitled to give evidence and that was sufficient.  The Employment Tribunal also had evidence of the Claimant’s initial report, which was the report he made the day following the incident and he was not in any event prevented from adducing evidence; we feel bound to say, in the light of the decision of the Employment Tribunal, that we find this submission almost impossible to sustain.  The Employment Tribunal made clear on a number of occasions, as we have pointed out, that it did not consider it to be its function to hear evidence as to how the injury to AF was caused.

77. In relation to the cross-appeal, Ms Findlay submitted that although she recognised that the procedural unfairness rendered the dismissal unfair,  she wished to be able to argue at the remedies hearing that the question of conduct and contribution was at large both under s121(2) and s123(6).  Her case was that the level of contribution should be substantially higher and that the Employment Tribunal was wrong to find a contribution of only 50%.  She complained that in effect the Employment Tribunal had substituted its views for those of the Respondent.  The Employment Tribunal had accepted that there was material before the disciplinary panel from which it could reasonably conclude that conduct on 12 September amounted to gross misconduct and had been proven.  She went so far as to submit that it was implicit in the decision of the Employment Tribunal that it accepted that the disciplinary panel had a genuine belief in the Claimant’s misconduct.  She submitted that the finding that the investigation was not reasonable in all the circumstances was inconsistent with the finding at paragraph 10.37, that it was thorough.  We observe in passing that this seems a difficult submission and does not amount, in our opinion, to a submission as to law.  She submitted that the decision was perverse and that the contribution should be significantly higher than 50%.

78. She went on to submit that the Employment Tribunal was wrong to find that the dismissal was not within the reasonable band of responses.  The Employment Tribunal had said at paragraph 10.54 of the decision that it was “far from clear that it must follow that the Claimant’s actions amounted to gross misconduct.”

79. The finding that the disciplinary panel had decided the outcome it wanted and then worked backwards could not be sustained. 

80. In relation to the question of breach of contract, Ms Findlay submitted the Employment Tribunal was wrong.  She submitted that on the true construction of Regulation 17 of the School Staffing (England) Regulations, the Governing Body made its determination when the disciplinary panel made its decision; it made that determination regardless of the possibility of an appeal.  Whilst it was accepted that that was the determination, it was mandatory that report was made to the Local Education Authority.  Once the report had been received, it was bound to dismiss the Claimant.

81. We note that at one time the Respondents were minded to submit that it was wrong to find the first Respondent had breached the Claimant’s contract of employment, because he was employed by the second Respondent; however the parties agreed that the issue as to whom the contracting party was, was not relevant and that the EAT should determine the issue of whether or not there had been a breach of contract.

82. She finally submitted that, if we were against her on her submissions, the claim should be remitted to the same Employment Tribunal for further consideration.

The Claimant’s response to the cross-appeal
83. In relation to the issue of whether there had been a breach of contract, Mr Green accepted that the general rule was now that a dismissal would take effect on the disciplinary panel determination unless the contract of employment provided otherwise.  The transitional regulations did not prevent a LEA agreeing terms more favourable to teachers, for example, as regards notice of the date of any determination of disciplinary proceedings.  The reference to “determination” in Regulation 17 involved both hearings, both before the disciplinary panel and the appeal panel and the contract of employment provided that the relevant determination should be that of the appeal panel.  Regulation 17 did not require communication within any fixed period; the only specific time limit for notification is after appeal.  Therefore, the contract of employment was untouched as to the date of notification.  There was nothing in the regulations that was capable of overriding contracts drafted in accordance with the Schedule to the 1998 Act.

84. In relation to the cross-appeal in relation to contribution, and whether dismissal was within the reasonable band of responses, Mr Green submitted that the decision of the Employment Tribunal was correct as to the reasonable band of responses and that far from 50% contribution being too low, the Employment Tribunal should not have made any finding of conduct capable of justifying a reduction in compensation on the grounds of contributory fault.

Conclusions
85. It is convenient to deal firstly with the cross-appeal, in which the Respondent seeks to persuade us that the decision that dismissal was not within the reasonable range of responses cannot stand.  We can deal with this point shortly.  Ms Findlay is seeking to dress up an attempt to appeal on facts as one that raises questions of law.  There was ample material before the Employment Tribunal to justify its findings at paragraphs 38-41 that the procedure was so flawed that the dismissal was unfair and outwith the band of reasonable responses.  In this regard, the Employment Tribunal’s self-direction was satisfactory and it was entitled on the evidence to find that the manner both of the investigation, the disciplinary hearing and appeal hearing was, as the Claimant put it “spectacularly wrong”.  It was equally entitled to infer from the evidence before it that the disciplinary panel had reached the decision it wanted and worked backwards; see in particular the decision at paragraph 10.56.  We do not see how this finding can be challenged.

86. We now turn to deal with the question of unfair dismissal and contributory fault.  It is clear to us, as the Claimant has submitted that in considering the question of contributory fault the Employment Tribunal conflated and confused the approach for considering whether a dismissal was unfair with the approach to considering whether there had been contributory fault.  It vacillated between approaching the question of contributory fault on the basis of whether the Respondent’s decision and findings were within the reasonable range of responses – the correct approach for determining the fairness of the dismissal, and at different times on the basis that it needed to make findings of fact – the correct approach for determining whether there had been contributory fault within the meaning of s123(6). The Employment Tribunal should have, but failed to make clear at the outset the procedure it intended to adopt. Had it done so we are satisfied that the confusion that later crept into its decision making process would have been avoided.  

87. The need for a clear self-direction is evident, as well as a direction for the parties.  It is necessary for there to be a firm demarcation between considerations relevant to fairness and those relevant to contribution.  This was absent.  The confusion of the Employment Tribunal is evidenced by the passages in paragraphs 1, 2, 10.19 and 10.34 to the effect that it would not be making findings of fact about what happened; we have referred to these in relation to consideration of the fairness of dismissal, it was bound to adopt that course.  The Employment Tribunal was required to concentrate on the material before the disciplinary panel, and, inter alia, determine whether the findings of the disciplinary panel were within the reasonable range of responses.  On the other hand, of course, in relation to the question of contribution it was required to make findings of fact as to what had actually happened, and therefore to hear evidence on the point.   The Employment Tribunal did go on to make findings of fact, having apparently discouraged, as is apparent from the passages we have cited, the calling of evidence as to what occurred.  As we have said, had the Employment Tribunal made clear the difference of approach required between contribution and fairness, this confusion could have been avoided.

88. Further, the Employment Tribunal appears to have lost sight of the principle that contribution must be judged by the knowledge of the Respondent and in particular those responsible for the decision to dismiss, at the time of dismissal, and that it was required to make specific findings as to what blameworthy conduct the Respondent knew of at the time of dismissal.

89. It follows that the decision that the Claimant was guilty of blameworthy conduct and had thus contributed to his dismissal by virtue of s123(6) cannot stand. The Employment Tribunal does not appear to have correctly directed itself as to the distinction between its roles relating to determining the fairness of the dismissal and issues of contributory fault.  This led the Employment Tribunal to restrict the calling of evidence and also to restrict its own consideration of the evidence relating to contribution. 

90. We now turn to deal with the level of contribution.  The Claimant says we should find there was no contributory fault; the Respondent submits that the 50% finding is far too little.  We were attracted to the Claimant’s case that it was wrong for the Employment Tribunal to find there was any blameworthy conduct on the part of the Claimant at all.  There is considerable force in the points that the Employment Tribunal failed to have regard to the fact the Claimant was acting on the spur of the moment in a situation that had rapidly developed.  There is some confusion about the possible failure to appreciate the distinction between the Claimant placing himself between the pupil CA and the door, and physical restraint.  Further, the Employment Tribunal should have, but failed, to make findings as to what precisely the Claimant should have done.  

91. However, although to our mind the Claimant’s case appears to be a strong one, in this regard we remind ourselves that questions of fact are for the Employment Tribunal and that we should remit the case, unless we can be satisfied that there is only one outcome possible.  Although, as we have said, the Claimant’s case that his conduct should not be classed as blameworthy or as amounting to gross misconduct appears strong and we have considerable sympathy for him, we are satisfied that this an issue for the Employment Tribunal and this aspect of the case will accordingly be remitted for a further hearing.

92. In relation to the Respondent’s cross-appeal that on the findings of the Employment Tribunal a 50% reduction for contributory fault is insufficient, we would again say that this is an attempt to re-argue questions of fact, and we see no basis upon which it could find a higher percentage.

93. We now turn to the question of breach of contract.  We are satisfied that the decision of the Employment Tribunal was correct.  The contract of employment requires notification to be made to the second Respondent, the LEA, only after an appeal.  The essential question is not whether the second Respondent is bound to dismiss after notification, but when notification is required to be sent.  Paragraph 17.1 of the School (Staffing) England Regulations 2003 does not say when the determination must be notified.  We see no reason, therefore, why where the contract of employment (as here) requires the determination to be notified only after an appeal, there is any right to give notification beforehand.  Were we to be wrong as to when the determination is made, the Claimant would seem to have a powerful argument that there was a breach of contract because he had not been guilty of gross misconduct.  If this matter were to arise for determination it would, of course, fall to be dealt with by the Employment Tribunal. 

94. It might be said that under the current statutory regime, internal disciplinary appeals will be heard very much more quickly than in the present case.  It would make little sense if the Respondent were dismissed as a result of notification of determination of a disciplinary panel, yet be reinstated the following week by reason of a successful appeal.  

95. We now turn to disposal.  We are satisfied that the correct course is to remit for rehearing the issues relating to contribution.  We are satisfied that the remittal should be to a freshly-constituted Employment Tribunal.  We had regard to the decision of Burton J in Sinclair Roche & Temperley v Heard [2004] IRLR 763 and, though we have no doubt as to the professionalism of the Employment Tribunal, we are satisfied that its decision was sufficiently flawed for it to be inappropriate for the same Tribunal to rehear this matter.  It will accordingly be remitted for rehearing before a newly-constituted Tribunal on the issue of contribution, as we have said.

96. It only remains for us to thank Counsel for their helpful skeleton arguments and submissions.
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